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I N T H E UN I T ED ST A T E S BA N K R U P TC Y C O U R T

FOR THE N OR THER N D ISTR IC T OF T EXA S

D ALLAS D I V IS I O N

I N R E : )
) BK. NO : 0 2 - 3 9 4 0 9 - B JH - 1 1

N ETWORK CA NCER C A R E , L . P . )
D E B T 0 R )

10 TRANSCRIPT O F PR OCEE D ING S

(Testimony of Lloyd Ward)
12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on the 29th day of July,

21 2004, before the HONORABLE BARBARA J. HOUSER, United States

22 Bankruptcy Judge at Dallas, Texas, the above styled and

23 numbered cause came on for hearing, and the following

24 constitutes the transcript of such proceedings as hereinafter

25 s et f o r t h :
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MR. WARD: Y o u r Honor, at this point I would

call myself as a witness.

THE COURT: A l l r ight . He re 's what we' ll do.

You need to stand and be sworn. Also, I'm going to permit

you to testify in a narrative, but periodically take a

breath. And if anybody has an objection to that -- I mean,

we' ve got two choices. And I' ll let everybody speak to this.

We either have Mr. Ward ask himself questions so that you can

10 preview what the question is going to be and then he can

answer if no one objects, or I can permit him to testify in a

12 narrative and when he takes breaths you can object and move

13 to strike if you believe he has offered something that was

14 not admissible because we' re doing this sort of after the

15 f ac t .

16 MR. WARD: Y o u r Honor, also I'd represent to

17 the Court, if the counsel stand as though they' re going to

18 make an objection, I' ll take a break at that point, also.

19 Finish the sentence and then take a break.

20 THE COURT: Do e s that make sense to the

21 p art i e s ' ?

22 MS. DURHAM: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

23 THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

24 (The witness was sworn by the courtroom deputy.)

25 ( no omi s s i o n )
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LLOYD WARD

the witness, having been duly sworn to tell the truth,

testified on his oath as follows:

MR. WARD: Y o u r Honor, my name is Lloyd Ward.

I'm an attorney licensed to practice law within the State of

T exas and h a v e s o be e n s i n ce r o ug h l y 198 3 .

In regard to the case that we' re here on today, I was

originally contacted back during roughly the second week of

October by Mr. Galtelli and asked to come to see the debtor

10 about some pending problems. I was told that the plan of

confirmation had been put in place and that they needed some

12 corporate counsel work and they needed some general

13 litigation work done.

14 At the time that I first went to visit with Mr. Galtelli

15 and Dr. Campbell, my understanding was that the bankruptcy

16 plan had been confirmed and this was simply issues which

17 would have been covered effectively outside of the estate of

18 the debtor. This was issues regarding trying to make a claim

19 for some money against Kennedy Funding. There has been

20 approximately $76,000 filed.

21 There was an ongoing problem that the notes had not been

22 signed and executed for Plains -- PNB, I believe is Plains

23 National Bank, as well as notes over to Colonial. A nd t h ere

24 was also the problem that it appeared imminent that there was

25 going to potentially be a foreclosure of equipment by Fleet
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Financing. Those were the items that were originally brought

in. And my intent was to maintain within the scope of those

type of items.

I n t h a t r e gar d , on c e w e - once I h ad a c han c e t o t ake a

look at this, there were a couple of things that became

evident. One was that while I did not read the plan in its

entirety because, quite frankly, I didn't think I needed to,

I did read the provisions that related to the Fleet

collateral and classification of Fleet, the Plains National

10 Bank portion, the Colonial Bank portion, and then there are

two or three provisions that allow for the debtor's use,

12 sale, or otherwise transfer of the real estate, and the

13 personal property of the debtor.

14 I limited it to that because it was not my intention to

15 become bankruptcy counsel at that point in time.

16 Once it began, it became evident that the only way to

17 keep the debtor from liquidating the entire estate was to be

18 able to find, do something in regard to Colonial, because

19 about seven days or eight days after I came in and I was

20 retained, the notice of foreclosure was given to me. Now,

21 apparently the debtor had had it for some time, but it wasn' t

22 given at that point in time.

23 And I'm going to back up for just a moment. At the time

24 that I went in to meet the debtor, I gave to the debtor a fee

25 agreement. The reason that I gave the debtor a fee
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agreement, Your Honor, was because, one, it was a new client.

Two, I didn't know these clients. A nd , quite frankly, three,

because this is someone that had been in bankruptcy. And my

personal view is if someone has been in bankruptcy and they

are facing these type of problems, the ability to get paid is

always questionable at very best. There's always a chance

that the property is going to end up being sold and that

they' re either through bankruptcy or out of bankruptcy and

effectively going to end up liquidated. So I drafted and

10 sent over to Dr. Campbell the employment agreement which is

marked as Exhibit 10.

12 THE COURT: Yo u r Exhibit 10?

13 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

14 THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

15 MR. WARD: A nd t hat fee agreement, because of

16 the type of work and because of the client at page 2 has my

17 standardized letter that says, that once a retainer is paid,

18 it becomes a non-refundable retainer. My fee agreement

19 varies based upon the type of individual that I'm dealing

20 with. If in a case such as this based upon the liquidation

21 problems and everything that was out there, I felt it

22 inherently incumbent upon me to make sure that if I'm doing

23 this work, I'm going to get paid for it. If the debtor had

24 been able to pay all its bills, it wouldn't have been in

25 bankruptcy to begin with, I guess is the short story.
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THE COURT: W a s t his agreement ever signed?

Because my copy is unsigned by either you or Dr. Campbell.

MR. WARD: Y es , it was, Your Honor. A nd   

THE COURT: W here is the signed copy?

MR. WARD: T he s i gned copy was packed up. W hen

the law firm took over from me in late January and -- it was

Mr. Parham, and I apologize, I don't remember the law firm's

name. I literally was contacted and they said, We need these

files. We have all of these deadlines coming up. We need

10 everything you have. And I informed them at that time, I

don't mind giving you my files, but I haven't made copies of

12 anything. And they said, It doesn't matter. We' ve got some

13 stringent deadlines. We have to have the files. So

14 literally I had the files packed up in a box, including these

15 agreements, and they were set out. We just took everything

16 that had Network Cancer Care on it, put it in a box and set

17 it out for Mr. Parham's office to come and pick up.

18 But, yes, the agreement was signed.

19 And at that point in time I began the representation of

20 the debtor. No w , one of the -- I had two ongoing problems.

21 One was one of the reasons we were having difficulty getting

22 PNB as well as Colonial Bank taken care of in regard to their

23 note was that Dr. Campbell was fairly (indecipherable word)

24 that the amounts that were being reflected in the plan were

25 not the amounts that were truly due and owing.
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The plan provides for what the plan provides for. The

client was not particularly willing to sign off on documents

that she felt did not accurately reflect what the debt was

supposed to have been out there. Now, that's not  - t h a t wa s

something that fell far more into Mr. Galtelli's realm of

expertise. But ultimately the property was posted for

f orec l o s u r e .

When I was given a copy of that posting of foreclosure I

immediately went down and filed the temporary  - the petition

10 which i s - a copy of which is at Exhibits 1, Your Honor

THE COURT: Ye s .

12 M R. WA R D : -- to prohibit and stop that

13 foreclosure from taking place. Ultimately Mr. Vineyard and I

14 worked out an agreement, which is reflected at Exhibit 2,

15 which is the agreed order which takes the foreclosure off.

16 Mr. Vineyard and I had a sincere disagreement as to the

17 validity of the posting of foreclosure that he's had. But

18 the simple fact was, it was about irrelevant because there

19 was no financing available for Fleet. And while I don' t

20 remember the exact date, in roughly the third week of

21 November since the notes were cross-defaulted, it was

22 Colonial made it very evident that once Fleet's note went

23 into default, that pursuant to the terms of the plan they

24 were going to default their note any way. So it was a catch

25 22 position. Even if I won on this, the financing wasn' t
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available for Fleet. So they were still going to be able to

default their note and post the property. That was the

conundrum that we were placed in at that time.

In regard to the sale and transfer of the property. I

didn't participate in the negotiations of any of the funds

t ha t  - I didn't negotiate the loan. I d idn 't negotiate with

Dr., I believe it was Chou, or Chau, that took the second

lien. And, in fact, had never heard of her until the

transactions took place. A nd I did not draft any of the

10 documentation that was used in regard to either the transfer

o r t h e sa l e .

12 The letter that Mr. Salzberger provided for me in regard

13 to that transaction was a letter which was reprinted on my

14 letterhead. I rev iewed the letter. I ' ll be frank with the

15 Court. I w a s thinking that it was from Network Cancer Care

16 and it wasn't actually until after this was begun did I

17 realized that it was signed on behalf of Piano, when I say

18 Piano Cancer Care. But the requiring entity that  - i t wa s

19 b rought to my attention that that's who the letter was. A nd

20 it is under that and I fully admit that.

21 THE COURT: W e l l , but it's your opinion letter.

22 MR. WARD: I und erstand.

23 THE COURT: A s i t appears, counsel for the

24 borrower on that transaction.

25 MR. WARD: T hat 's right. I don 't disagree with
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t ha t , Yo u r Ho n o r .

What I would bring to the Court's attention is that this

is a standardized letter. I do a fairly substantial amount

of real estate work. And as a matter of fact, have good

relationships with three or four title companies. And these

letters are fairly standardized. And the simple fact of the

matter is, it falls into two categories. The documentation

as far as a title policy, and most of the documentation,

these are state promulgated. They' re required under, I

10 believe it's the Texas Board of Insurance.

So - and the Bank creates its own set of documents that

12 relate to the lien agreement and relate to the amounts due

13 and owing. We' re not typically entitled  - well, the Bank is

14 not going to negotiate with us under what its terms of

15 default are, nor under its deeds of trust.

16 THE COURT: W e l l , but how do you know that'? I

17 mean, you didn't even ask for any changes, according to

18 Mr. Salzberger. I me an , I guess I'm troubled.

19 This is your opinion letter we' re talking about on

20 behalf of what purports to be your client. Did you do any

21 due diligence to do anything before you signed it'2 I mean,

22 you' re leaving me with the impression that you just were told

23 to sign it, so you did. Put it on your letterhead and signed

24

25 I certainly hope that's not true.
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MR. WARD: T he due diligence I did was I

contacted Blue Star. I co n t acted a, I think her name was

Kathy at Blue Star. A nd a s ked her what the documents were.

Asked her what was going on with the closing. And at that

point in time I called Dr. Campbell to find out if the note

had been finalized and I was told that Dr. Campbell had

reviewed the note. That she was happy with the note. And

that she just wanted to get the closing over and done with.

That she was happy with the documentation. B l u e Star

10 informed me that all appropriate documents had, indeed, been

drawn and that they were ready to go. They complied with

12 state and that they would   

13 THE COURT: W ho is Blue Star' ?

14 MR. WARD: B l u e Star Title Company.

15 THE COURT: Okay . So in s tead of doing your own

16 due diligence, you relied on what the title company told you

17 about the documents. And then you signed your opinion letter

18 not after reviewing the documents yourself, but after

19 Dr. Campbell told you they were fine, one of your clients.

20 The title company who you have no relationship with, they

21 told you they were fine, so you just went ahead and signed

22 t he d o c u m e n t .

23 Is that what I'm to believe'2

24 MR. WARD: W el l , without attempting to glaze

25 over it, the answer to the question is, yes, Your Honor. But
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I would ask that the Court please understand, one, that when

you say I'm not familiar, I send things to either Blue Star

or to Chicago Title Company on a very regular basis. And,

again , t ho se -- the documents that they use are state

promulgated. They don't   as a matter of fact, the

THE COURT: I und erstand all of that, Mr. Ward.

MR. WARD: So

THE COURT: Th i s is you affirmatively

representing to Preston National Bank certain things about

10 your client. And I'm not hearing that you did any due

diligence to know whether what you were saying was true or

12 not .

13 MR. WARD: W el l , Your Honor, I felt that what I

14 d id was a d e q u a t e .

15 THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

16 MR. WARD: O kay . Du ring the time that   and I

17 did not participate in regard to the drafting of the

18 documents. And, in fact, I didn't even participate in regard

19 to what the type of formation was going to be. The Bank had

20 mandated that new entities were going to be set up and it set

21 the entities up.

22 In regard to the actual entities themselves, Your Honor,

23 w hat  - when I contacted Dr. Campbell about that, Paul

24 Salzberger contacted me telling me they were going to have to

25 have new entities. T h a t the Bank would not make a loan to
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Network Cancer Care. A nd w hen I contacted Dr. Campbell,

Dr. Campbell informed me that she had another attorney that

had drawn a trust for her husband, I believe it was, was

going to draw up the trust. And all she wanted me to do was

send over blank formats for an LLC and an LP agreement.

I offered to do the agreements for her, but Dr. Campbell

did not want to incur the expense of doing that. So the

agreements were forwarded over to Dr. Campbell. I can tell

you that I' ve had a chance to review the items that are set

10 o ut in the Trustee's exhibit list, Your Honor. And t h e

simple fact of the matter is, Dr. Campbell didn't contact me

12 about these. The first contact I had was they were shipped

13 back over and I was told to please file these with the

14 Secretary of State, which I did.

15 THE COURT: W e l l , you' re going to need to be

16 more specific when you say "these". What are you talking

17 about ' ?

18 MR. WARD: O kay . I re ce ived an LLC agreement.

19 THE COURT: W e l l , let's look at the exhibits,

20 Mr. Ward. If you' re referring me to exhibits, let's look at

21 them so that I understand your testimony.

22 MR. WARD: Y o u r Honor, may I'?

23 THE COURT: Ple a se . I ju s t want the record to

24 b e c l e a r .

25 MR. WARD: C ert ainly.
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THE COURT: I ' m not trying to get you to

e ssentially identify or offer the Trustee's Exhibits. B ut i f

you' re going to talk about them, I think the record ought to

be clear as what exhibits we' re talking about.

MR. WARD: C ert ainly. You r Honor, I'm looking

at Exhibit Number 9

THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

M R. WA R D : -- of the Trustee's Exhibits.

THE COURT: A nd i f I understood your prior

10 testimony correctly, what you' re telling me is you sent

Exhibit 9 as a form document to Mr. Campbell' ?

12 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

13 THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

14 MR. WARD: It ' s much like incorporations.

15 These ar e o n e s t hat we h av e - - i t ' s now a f o r m o n t he

16 computer, fill-in-the-blank form. And so that was forwarded

17 by email and/or fax over to Dr. Campbell.

18 Okay. I gu ess Number 9 would be the document that we' re

19 h ere o n t od a y .

20 THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

21 MR. WARD: T h e r e wa s a l s o - - t h e r e wa s a n L L C

22 agreement which, likewise, was forwarded in a blank format

23 over to Dr. Campbell.

24 THE COURT: A nd , again, just so the record is

25 clear, then Exhibit 9 and this LLC agreement were sent back
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to you with the blanks filled in and you were told to file

them?

MR. WARD: T hat 's correct, Your Honor. An d s o,

as a matter of fact, we did send them down to the Secretary

of State and filed them. The o r iginal of those should have

been held by Network Cancer Care because one of the things

they did is they asked where to send the originals back to

and we always put the client's address on those.

THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

10 MR. WARD: A t that point in time I did not

believe that this was going to end up, quite frankly, back in

12 the bankruptcy court. My understanding and my belief was

13 that at this point we had got Colonial refinanced and all of

14 sudden Fleet was available for comment and we would begin to

15 hammer out an agreement with Fleet. A nd it looked like, at

16 least initially, that we were going to be able to work out

17 something between six months and a year to pay down on Fleet

18 and then either get their equipment refinanced, or to replace

19 that equipment.

20 It appeared that everything seemed to be going

21 r elatively well at that point in time, Your Honor. Othe r

22 than the opinion letter and forwarding for filing documents

23 on behalf of the two new entities, that would be the sum

24 t otal of the work that was performed on those entities. A nd ,

25 quite frankly, I don't even know what the name of those
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entities are.

In regard to representation of Dr. Campbell. Actual

representation of Dr. Campbell  - there was representation,

Your H o n o r . Th e r e wa s n o - at that point we were far past

being able to make formal appearances or doing anything from

that aspect. Bu t Dr . Campbell had two items which were

directly tied to the debtor in this case. One was the

judgments that were outstanding against Dr. Campbell were

related to guarantee agreements which were the debtor' s

10 original obligations.

For example, even though Fleet had been taken care of in

12 the plan, Fleet had about 1.7 million judgment against

13 Dr. Campbell. A nd one of the things that we discussed with

14 Fleet was, if we get this refinanced, would you be willing to

15 release the judgment with Dr. Campbell'? Because one of the

16 things that we needed to be able to do, at least when I

17 started this, and it was always my belief that in order to

18 get any of these things refinanced we needed to get

19 Dr. Campbell effectively cleared up so that she had credit

20 that would allow her to go out and guarantee these debts,

21 because I didn't believe that Network Cancer Care had the

22 ability to obtain money without that type of guarantee. So

23 there was representation. It was in a limited format and

24 that's what the intent was.

25 In regard to the appointment of the CEO for this
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c ompany, Y ou r H o n o r , I was not   and I'm going to back up

again. I originally filed a motion to substitute in this

because Fleet had stated quite vehemently that they were not

willing to talk to me unless I affirmatively had filed such

pleadings so that they knew that I represented Network Cancer

Care. And they were not going to visit with me otherwise,

because they didn't think that I had authority to do anything

as an attorney for Network Cancer Care.

THE COURT: Okay . But h elp me understand.

10 Because you filed this with me.

MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

12 THE COURT: A nd e v ery other party in interest

13 i n t h e ca s e .

14 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

15 THE COURT: How am I supposed to know when I

16 look at your request to substitute in for Ms. Orenstein

17 who was debtor's counsel. She represented the debtor

18 throughout this case in every capacity.

19 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

20 THE COURT: Ho w was I supposed to know that

21 your substitution was not in toto and was simply so that you

22 could work with Fleet'? How was I supposed to know that'? You

23 didn't give me a copy of any retention agreement that would

24 have any limitation whatsoever in it. And you simply asked

25 to substitute in in Ms. Orenstein's stead.
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MR. WARD: I don 't disagree with that, Your

Honor .

But the simple answer is, I didn't think it was

necessary, because since the plan had been confirmed and

since I didn't intend to do anything originally that would

bring me back into this bankruptcy court

THE COURT: You d o n't realize that the debtor

has continuing obligations to get the case closed, file an

application for final decree, and the like?

10 M R. WARD: T he a n swer is, yes. But m y

understanding was that she was going to hire separate counsel

12 t o d o t h a t .

13 THE COURT: W e l l , how am I supposed to know

14 that from what was filed of record?

15 MR. WARD: I don 't disagree with you, Your

16 Honor. A ll I'm telling you is the facts as they stood at the

17 time. And that was that my understanding was, as a matter of

18 fact, there was probably a half dozen attorneys that I talked

19 to during the time period where Odette Campbell was

20 attempting to be able to find somebody that would come in and

21 take the case over as far as the bankruptcy portion of it

22 went .

23 THE COURT: Th e n why didn't what you filed

24 simply say you were substituting in to represent the debtor

25 in connection with Fleet negotiations, et cetera?
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MR. WARD: It s h ould have, Your Honor. It

s hould h a v e .

THE COURT: A l l r ight . Th at 's fair.

MR. WARD: An d , a g a i n , o n c e - as a matter of

fact, as I went through some of the emails and items that had

been forwarded over to me from Mr. Galtelli, I actually

received a copy of the appointment of the CEO in this case

from the attorney for Fleet. F leet emailed that down some

time about the first week of December, in that neighborhood,

10 to let me know that at this point in time from their

viewpoint that there had been a CEO instituted and that their

12 negotiations needed to move from myself/Odette Campbell over

13 to the new CEO and whoever the CEO wanted to use in this.

14 At the time that the transactions took place in regard

15 t o t h e

16 THE COURT: I ' m sorry . Whe n was that,

17 approximately' ?

18 MR. WARD: T he f i rst or second week. It w as

19 somewhere around the 12th of December.

20 I don't know why, Your Honor, but it was actually about

21 the first week of January before I got on the Court's fax

22 email list. And I don't know why, simply that's what it was.

23 At the time that the sale transfer took place, I was

24 unaware of the fact that a CEO had been appointed. I be l ieve

25 that there was a great deal of value that was added to this
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e st a t e , Yo u r Ho n o r .

The other thing that we dealt with was the Weller liens.

And in regard to the Weller liens, when I

THE COURT: I ' m sorry, the what liens' ?

MR. WARD: I ca l l them the Weller, it was

Weller Construction Company.

Weller Construction Company, at least according to the

title company and according to my understanding was the only

entity which had a materialman's lien outstanding. Weller's

10 materialman's line was based upon an allegation that a number

of subcontractors had not been paid.

12 Initially I asked Weller what he thought it would take

13 to get this over and done with and we started at 80,000 and

14 we ended up at roughly 27,000. And I informed Mr. Weller

15 that I would escrow that money until we got this all settled.

16 And, i n f ac t

17 THE COURT: Did -- I'm sorry.

18 MR. WARD: C ert ainly.

19 THE COURT: Ple a se . N o , f i nish your sentence.

20 I 'm s o r r y .

21 MR. WARD: U nt il we got -- when I said it all

22 finished, until we were able to obtain releases for the

23 subcontractors, or until those subcontractors were somehow

24 addressed .

25 THE COURT: Did W e ller or the subcontractors
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file claims in the bankruptcy case?

MR. WARD: No , Yo u r Ho n o r .

THE COURT: Th e n why weren't they just

d ischar g e d ?

MR. WARD: B eca use you can't get a title policy

i ssued i f

THE COURT: Th e n why didn't you come back and

see me? If they had notice of the case and didn' t

participate, didn't they lose their rights?

10 MR. WARD: T he a n swer to that question is

probably, yes, Your Honor. The reason that I did it in the

12 manner in which I did it was because by the time I found out

13 about Weller, we were ten days away from having to fund this.

14 And as a practical matter, most of the subcontractors had

15 been paid. Dr. Campbell had provided me copies of checks and

16 r eleases and so forth of the subcontractors. A nd i t

17 w asn' t  - it was simply an issue of expediency.

18 What we did, there ended up being about eight or nine

19 that we ended up tracking down, locating, and obtaining

20 releases from on that. At t h e time that we obtained the

21 final release, I asked Dr. Campbell to allow me to convert

22 the funds which she had sent over as escrow. Because by that

23 point in time, we were beginning to get in arrears on my

24 account. T o c o nvert that over to the non-refundable retainer

25 and she said that wasn't a problem. Her opinion was that
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once she got this financing done, that everything was going

to get up and fly. A nd she said, I don't think it's a

problem. We' re going to have plenty of cash flow now. Which

is what I did. And, quite frankly, the money was used and

the money was spent. During the months of November,

December, and the first two weeks of January, this case

occupied probably 70 percent, not just of my billable time,

but of my time even on Saturday mornings.

But Weller, ultimately we obtained a release. W h e n I

10 say that the fact that the title company confirmed with me,

when I say I contacted the title company, that's what I was

12 referring to. We went through  - when I call it a check

13 list, I just got a little list of things that I go through

14 with the title company to make sure that the documents are

15 there. That we have everything that we have. They have

16 among the check list to make sure that the title company has

17 the corporate resolutions that they need. They make sure

18 that they have a release in regard to any materialman's liens

19 or other liens that would otherwise be outstanding. To make

20 sure that they have an underwriter's approval in regard to

21 being able to issue policy on this. And also to make sure

22 that they have in their possession a deed and deed of trust

23 which has been either drafted by the Bank, or approved by the

24 Bank for purposes of execution and delivery.

25 So when I say I contacted them, what I do is I contact
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them and make sure that they have the documentation and those

items so that they' re able to go ahead transfer title to the

property, and issue a title policy upon the real estate.

THE COURT: A l l r ight . C an I j ust go back and

ask you a b ou t yo ur -- this non-refundable retainer'?

MR. WARD: Y es , ma' am.

THE COURT: W h e n the agreement -- when the

employment agreement was signed, and I take it it was signed

in -- well, when was it signed'?

10 MR. WARD: A ppr oximately the second week of

October, Your Honor, somewhere around the 14th or 15th.

12 THE COURT: A l l r ight . Whe n it was signed, and

13 I take it it's one of your exhibits, or it's Trustee Exhibit

14 2'?

15 MR. WARD: Y es , Your Honor, either one.

16 THE COURT: W h e n it was signed, did you get a

17 retainer at that time'?

18 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

19 T HE COURT: Ho w mu c h ' ?

20 MR. WARD: I g o t a retainer of -- if the Court

21 will grant me just a moment, I' ll tell you.

22 THE COURT: Pl e a s e .

23 MR. WARD: T h e r e t a i n e r wa s $ 1 7 , 0 0 0 , t o t h e

24 best of my recollection, Your Honor.

25 THE COURT: A nd was that the retainer that was
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the non-refundable retainer per paragraph 6 of Exhibit 2'?

MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

THE COURT: An d s o i s - and th e c o p y t h at wa s

actually executed -- again, this is in blank.

MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

THE COURT: The b l anks were filled in, I take

i t ' ?

MR. WARD: Y es , Your Honor. I o ri g inally asked

for a $25,000 retainer on this. And, quite frankly,

10 Dr. Campbell said she just didn't have the money to do that.

THE COURT: So o n p age 2 where it says what the

12 amount of the retainer is, what does it say in the document

13 that's filled in'?

14 MR. WARD: $ 17,000 , I be l i ev e , Yo u r H o n o r.

15 THE COURT: A l l r ight . And t hat was paid to

16 you?

17 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

18 THE COURT: A l l r ight . Now , when did the

19 30,000 get added to this, from your perspective'? And where

20 is the documentation that would evidence that'?

21 MR. WARD: T h a t is on the last two pages, Your

22 Honor .

23 THE COURT: Of ?

24 MR. WARD: O f th e exhibit.

25 THE COURT: N ot E x hibit 2.
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MR. WARD: I ' m sorry, Exhibit 10, Ward's

Exhibit 10 the last two pages.

THE COURT: Ha n g on . L et m e get there.

All right. So from your perspective with this

additional letter of November 24, the 17,000 referred to in

paragraph 6 i s n ow 17 , 0 0 0 p l u s 3 7 , 00 0 '?

MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

MR. WARD: A nd l o oking at the billing in this,

10 Your Honor, my billing begins on October 14th. So I believe

that would have been the date that I was originally called

12 o ver an d b e g a n .

13 The reason that I became -- the reason that I requested

14 for the additional sums of money was because it was evident

15 after the first week that my duties were going to be

16 ballooning. Because when I first came over, it started with

17 a simple claim in regard to $67,000 from Kennedy. It then

18 went into a need to assist with Fleet. A nd al l of a sudden

19 I'm given also an adversarial that needs to be filed to stop

20 a foreclosure. It became very evident that this was

21 something which was going to balloon and take a great deal of

22 time to get into. And, again, Dr. Campbell was consistently

23 complaining about the ability to obtain funds because of the

24 need to get Fleet refinanced and the need to get Colonial

25 Bank taken care of, et cetera. My experience has told me
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that if you can get a non-refundable retainer, you' re going

to get paid. Otherwise, in regard to being on the list of

creditors that one of your clients has to pay, we tend to get

pushed down toward the bottom of the list.

THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

MR. WARD: B ut the work that was performed was

all performed in regard to -- when I say maintaining the

estate, one of the items that, for example, I was requested

and ultimately did because there was no bankruptcy counsel

10 that was hired, filed some objections to some of the

administrative expenses, which the Court's familiar with that

12 I appeared in front of. In regard to the appeal of Rosa, I

13 was asked to object. And, quite frankly, I objected to

14 Rosa Orenstein's fees. I felt they were excessive at almost

15 $200,000. And I thought it would be very beneficial to the

16 estate if we could get those fees knocked down, or if we

17 could get those fees somehow otherwise taken care of. An

18 extra $100,000 to be able to pay Fleet would have been very

19 beneficial to the creditor in order to get them reconstructed

20 and get something done with Fleet.

21 The things that we did, we did in an attempt to keep

22 money in the estate so that the existing debts could be taken

23 c are o f

24 THE COURT: But you don't view debtor's counsel

25 as an existing debt that needs to be taken care of?
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MR. WARD: T o th e extent that  - yes , i t i s .

It is a debt. B ut the question becomes the amount of the

d ebt , Yo u r Ho n o r .

THE COURT: R ight . An d u l timately you were not

successful in that objection?

MR. WARD: I ag r ee, Your Honor. A nd u l timately

Dr. Campbell insisted on appeal. My understanding is that

the review in regard to an appeal on that is an abuse of

discretion in regard to attorney's fees. It's not one that

10 ultimately tends to be very successful. And in a case like

this, there was going to be a fairly substantial amount of

12 work that needed to be done; transcripts, copies of records,

13 briefing, et cetera. I really didn't want to do the appeal.

14 Dr. Campbell wanted the appeal done. I agreed to do it for a

15 fixed rate on the appeal which is in here. But it was about

16 $8,000, in that neighborhood. Which by my calculations would

17 have paid, essentially, for the transcripts and also would

18 have paid for the briefing that would have had to have been

19 in regard to those issues.

20 I mean, it's -- the documentation longed for review for

21 the various records and billing that were submitted were

22 fairly voluminous, Your Honor, as I'm sure the Court's aware.

23 THE COURT: So did you get paid $8,000 to do

24 that a p p e a l ' ?

25 MR. WARD: Su r e did, Your Honor. A s a m a tter
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of fact, I wasn't willing to file the papers or do any of the

work on the appeal until I was paid for the appeal.

THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

MR. WARD: I be l ieve two things, Your Honor.

One is, during the entire -- it was not until after the show

cause hearing and after Ms. Orenstein brought up the

allegations revolving around the property and the transfer of

the property that it became evident that there was going to

be a much larger problem out there. At that point the

10 realization set in that even though we had taken care of

Colonial that we had Fleet essentially on a work-out plan

12 that suddenly it was evident that there were going to be some

13 problems out there. And based upon the allegations being

14 made, it was fairly certain that I was probably going to be,

15 if not in the center of those allegations, certainly

16 peripherally involved in those allegations. At which point

17 Dr. Campbell began contacting bankruptcy attorneys, again.

18 Ultimately she contacted Mr. Parham. I h ad three or

19 four telephone conversations - actually, it wasn't even with

20 Mr. Parham initially. It wa s with a female attorney out of

21 Mr. Parham's office. They picked the records up. And then I

22 also attended a conference with Mr. Parham and Dr. Campbell

23 down at Mr. Parham's office downtown.

24 At that point in time my understanding was that he was

25 going to be substituting in as counsel. That I was going to
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be substituting out as counsel. And e ven at that point in

time, it wasn't anticipated that either the plan was going to

be rejected, or that this was going to be converted to a

Chapte r 7 .

THE COURT: It s t ill hasn't been converted to a

Chapter 7, Mr. Ward. You keep saying that and I keep telling

y ou i t ha sn ' t be en .

MR. WARD: N o . I be li eve -- I'm not arguing.

I'm just saying at that point we didn't anticipate anything

10 but a confirmed plan going forward. We didn't anticipate

that the plan would be set aside, or conversion, or anything

12 else. W e t h ought that even at that late stage we thought

13 that things were going to be able to be dealt with, because

14 based upon my conversations with Mr. Vineyard, Mr. Vineyard

15 had been of the opinion that what we had done had not been

16 inappropriate under the plan as Mr. Salzberger

17 THE COURT: W e l l , no . Let ' s be fair. A ll

18 Mr. Vineyard said today was he had the right to sell his

19 claim to anybody he wanted to and that didn't have anything

20 t o do with the plan, or this Court, or anything else. A nd I

21 agree with Mr. Vineyard. A creditor can sell its claim.

22 There are rules that deal with that. But p o st-confirmation,

23 Colonial Bank can sell its claim to anybody it wanted to.

24 That's all Mr. Vineyard said they were doing.

25 MR. WARD: A nd , Your Honor, I'm not disagreeing
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with that. But what I'm saying is, if you look at -- because

Mr. Vineyard handled part of it and Mr. Salzberger handled

part of it, and when I visited with them I was not under the

impression and I didn't get anything from either one of them

that either one of them were under the impression that the

transaction either for the assignment and sale of the lien,

nor the sale of the property to the new entity had been

i napprop r i at e .

THE COURT: W e l l , but, Mr. Ward, they weren' t

10 representing the debtor, you were.

M R. WARD: I und erstand, Your Honor. A nd I

12 d idn ' t

13 THE COURT: So yo u shouldn't have been taking

14 comfort from other counsel to other parties. Shouldn't you

15 have been doing your job as counsel to the debtor?

16 MR. WARD: A nd , Your Honor, I filed a response

17 in regard to Ms. Orenstein's motion on this. A nd I set out

18 the time line and I set out the facts. A nd , Your Honor, I

19 know that the Court has made a determination on this.

20 THE COURT: N o . I h av en 't heard the evidence,

21 yet .

22 MR. WARD: W el l , I'm talking about in regard to

23 setting aside the plan for fraud. And my understanding

24 and, again, this is based on hearsay at this point. But that

25 fraud was the transaction involving the sale of the property.
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THE COURT: There was great fraud in this case,

s adly .

MR. WARD: T he o nly thing that I was

THE COURT: Pa r t of the fraud was, I would have

never confirmed the plan if a new CEO wasn't coming in. I

can't state it more simply. And that was important to

creditors. And, quite frankly, I would not have found a plan

to be led by Dr. Campbell feasible, period, paragraph.

That's why the plan was amended at the confirmation hearing

10 to require the appointment of a new CEO so that we had a

business person running the debtor.

12 When my order directing who that person would be, which

13 was how the parties asked that that evolve, was not complied

14 with, not even begun to have been complied with, that's what

15 prompted the first show cause hearing. And then it rapidly

16 went down hill from there.

17 So the fraud was enormous in this case. To be blunt,

18 I' ve never seen a worse case of fraud in my career.

19 MR. WARD: W el l , the portion

20 THE COURT: It wa s much worse than just the

21 transfer of the property. Although, that was, of course, a

22 serious problem, largely because of who the new beneficiaries

23 of the equity of that property were.

24 MR. WARD: Y o u r Honor, I couldn't tell the

25 Court who the beneficiaries were. I kn ow it was a CF Trust.
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I believe it was CF Trust. But I c o uldn't tell you who owned

that trust, because I didn't draw the trust documents up.

THE COURT: W e l l , but as counsel for the debtor

you should have known who was the beneficiaries of that

trust. A n d low and behold, guess who'? Dr. Campbell's two

minor children.

MR. WARD: T h a t doesn't shock me, Your Honor.

THE COURT: W e l l , it shocked the Court.

MR. WARD: B u t , Your Honor, and again, when I

10 reviewed the plan and the way that I looked at the plan and

my belief in what the plan said   and, again, it's laid out

12 in my response to Ms. Orenstein's motion - - w a s t h a t t h e

13 debtor could have sold that property to anybody. I didn' t

14 find any restrictions that would prohibit the sale of that

15 property to the debtor or the Children's Trust

16 THE COURT: Th e n you should have read the plan

17 a bit more carefully. Because I believe you' re in error

18 t he r e .

19 But let's refocus on your fees

20 MR. WARD: C ert ainly.

21 T HE COURT : - and the reasonableness of those.

22 MR. WARD: A nd the items that I took in regard

23 to this, in retrospect whether they helped or whether, for

24 example, Ms. Orenstein's appeal and the objection into what

25 she did, I think that the proper view of that is, at the time
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that the actions were taken, were they intended to benefit?

Was there a sincere belief they'd benefit? Was there an

attempt to benefit?

Ultimately any time we try a case until the final

verdict comes in, whether it's beneficial or not is not

something we' re going to know. I had an honest belief that

we would be able to have a fairly substantial reduction in

Ms. Orenstein's fees. I d i d not have a belief that there

would be a substantial likelihood of being able to overturn

10 her fees on appeal. But, again, when a client requests that

you do that, you do it.

12 So the actions that I came and took were intended to

13 benefit the estate. A t th e time that these actions were

14 taken, my belief was that it was a confirmed plan. I was not

15 under the impression, nor did I have the belief that I was in

16 violation of the plan. What I did was in good faith and was

17 not intended at any point in time to defraud this Court, to

18 mislead this Court. And, in fact, again, we sit here today

19 and we sat here since we had the first hearing on January

20 6th. An d while I'm not going to say that the Court has

21 agreed with some, or even most of what I' ve argued to the

22 Court, I haven't misled the Court. A nd I h aven't lied to the

23 Court. A n d I haven't attempted to.

24 My understanding was it was a confirmed plan. I thought

25 we were operating under a confirmed plan. I didn't think
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that this was going to end up anywhere but ultimately the

debtor (sic) being paid off, the unsecured debtors (sic)

being paid off, and this plan going forward. Especially once

Colonial was taken care of and suddenly Fleet was at the

bargaining table with us.

THE COURT: Ve r y we l l .

MR. WARD: I be l ieve that I did  - that what I

did was exceptionally beneficial. My understanding is, and

again I pulled this up within the last few days, that the

10 assets that were not foreclosed upon were sold for about $4.3

million. Had the foreclosure taken place, had we not been

12 able to get the property sold, transferred, refinanced,

13 whatever it was, Fleet was going to come in. That property

14 would not have existed for the sale to take place, Your

15 Honor. I t hink that's fairly evident both from the testimony

16 of Mr. Vineyard, as well as the testimony of Mr. Galtelli

17 and

18 THE COURT: I th ink you' re now getting into

19 argument. L et 's leave this to the facts.

20 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r . And I d o

21 apologize. I was trying to address what I had read in

22 THE COURT: Oh , no , no, no . I 'm h appy for you

23 to make a closing argument. But I think now you' re making

24 your closing from the witness chair and that's probably not

25 the appropriate place.
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MR. WARD: Y o u r Honor, the fees that I have put

forward in regard to the billing statements reflect  - we l l ,

as a matter of fact, when I say they reflect actual time,

those fees actually tend to be discounted somewhat. Because,

for example, if I spend five hours researching, typically we

discount that before I put it on there because most clients

have a belief if they hire an attorney, they hire you because

of your expertise and knowledge, and they don't hire you to

go out and research items. So there is a built in - and

10 while I could not tell the Court precisely the amount,

because I didn't anticipate this issue arising, I will tell

12 you that across the board that the items tend to be

13 d iscoun t e d .

14 I will tell you that the actual expenses that are set

15 out are, indeed, actual expenses in regard to various items,

16 actual telephone calls. There were a number of telephone

17 calls, because most of the subcontractors were located out of

18 the metropolitan area for the 214, 972, I think 469 Area Code

19 now.

20 We sent most of the items that we sent to the various

21 individuals certified mail. We charged five cents a copy for

22 photocopies at my office on a client cliff basis. So the

23 expenses that are reflected here are actual expenses. And,

24 in fact, one of the expenses, while I know the allegation is

25 standing that I have represented the new entities which were
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created, Your Honor, we paid $1,000 for incorporation. And,

quite frankly, once I was told that we weren't going to be

representing those people by Odette Campbell, that fell

through the cracks and we never even got reimbursed for our

payment expenses in regard to the incorporation of the LP and

t he L L C .

I believe that the rates that were charged on this

and my rates have since gone up. But my rates at the time

that this was going on was -- well, no, it is - - wa s $ 3 5 0 a n

10 hour, which is still my current billing rate, Your Honor.

I'm an attorney. I' ve been licensed to practice in the State

12 o f Te xa s s i n c e 19 8 3 o r '84. I'm licensed in Arkansas. I'm

13 licensed in all Federal District Courts. A nd b e lieve that

14 based upon my experience and based upon the type of work that

15 was being done, I believe that is a very fair and reasonable

16 rate in regard to this, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT: A re you a member of the State Bar

18 o f T e x a s ?

19 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

20 THE COURT: A l l r ight . So y o u' re licensed in

21 both T e x a s a n d A r k a n s a s ' ?

22 MR. WARD: Ye s , Yo u r Ho n o r .

23 THE COURT: A l l r i ght .

24 MR. WARD: I be l ieve that I made the most

25 beneficial use of time which was available. And as a matter
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of fact, it became an orderly event to have to go Saturday

mornings to attend long conferences with Dr. Campbell on

these events on Saturday mornings and usually in the

afternoons. None of which were billed for. I be l ieve that to

the extent that the billing was done, that it was the most

beneficial use of time that I could have made on that.

I don't believe that any of the services I rendered were

either duplicative nor unnecessary. And I believe that the

fees that I' ve asked for in regard to this are fair and

10 r easonab le , Y o u r H o n o r.

THE COURT: Ve r y we l l .

12 All right. We' re going to have to adjourn for today. I

13 have one other matter. We ' ve taken more time, and that' s

14 perfectly appropriate. I'm not concerned that we' ve taken

15 more time.

16 Mr. Ward , y ou c an st e p b ac k .

17 MR. WARD: T h a n k y o u , Yo u r Ho n o r .

18 (End of Testimony of Lloyd Ward.)
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